# Phytopharmaceuticals in Cancer Chemoprevention

EDITED BY

Debasis Bagchi

Harry G. Preuss



# $33 \begin{array}{l} {\text{NADH in Cancer Prevention}} \\ {\text{and Therapy}} \end{array}$

#### George D. Birkmayer and Jiren Zhang

#### **CONTENTS**

33.1	Biological Functions of NADH	541
	33.1.1 NADH Is the Fuel for Cellular Energy Production	542
	33.1.1.1 NADH Increases the Mitochondrial Membrane Potential	542
	33.1.1.2 Extracellular NADH Increases Intracellular ATP	
	Production in Heart Cells	542
	33.1.2 NADH Plays a Key Role in DNA and Cell Damage Repair	543
	33.1.3 NADH Stimulates Cellular Immune Functions	546
	33.1.4 NADH Is the Most Powerful Antioxidant	
33.2	ENADA: The Stabilized Orally Absorbable Form of NADH	547
	33.2.1 Bioavailability of ENADA–NADH	
	33.2.2 ENADA-NADH: A Protector against Chemotoxicity	
	and Radiation	548
	33.2.3 The Safety of ENADA-NADH	548
	33.2.4 ENADA–NADH as Therapeutic Concept	
	for Certain Human Cancers	549
33.3	Case Studies	549
	33.3.1 Case 1	549
	33.3.2 Case 2	549
	33.3.3 Case 3	549
	33.3.4 Case 4	550
	33.3.5 Case 5	550
	33.3.6 Case 6	550
	33.3.7 Case 7	550
33.4	Mechanism of Action of NADH	551
Acknowlegdment		551
References		551

#### 33.1 BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF NADH

NADH is the abbreviation for nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydride. NADH is also known under a number of other synonyms such as:

Diphosphopyridine nucleotide, reduced form Adenine-D-ribose-phosphate-phosphate D-ribose-nicotinamide, reduced form Cozymase, reduced form Coenzyme 1, reduced form Codehydrogenase, reduced form Nadide, disodium salt, reduced form

NADH is present in every living cell, where it catalyzes more than 1000 biochemical reactions. The most important biological functions of NADH are the following:

NADH is the cellular fuel for energy production NADH plays a key role in DNA and cell damage repair NADH stimulates cellular immune functions NADH is the most potent antioxidant

#### 33.1.1 NADH Is the Fuel for Cellular Energy Production

All living cells require energy to stay alive. Without energy, a cell dies because the energy production represents the essential prerequisites for every living cell. How is energy produced in the cell? NADH reacts with oxygen to produce in a cascade of biochemical reactions producing water and energy. This energy is stored in the form of the chemical compound adenosine triphosphate (ATP). NADH itself is produced from amino acids, sugars, and lipids via the citric acid cycle. One molecule of NADH yields three molecules of ATP, and the more NADH a cell has available, the more energy it can produce. The amount of NADH a cell contains depends on the amount of energy it requires. Heart muscle cells, which have to contract themselves every second (86,400 times per day) for an entire lifetime, contain 90  $\mu$ g of NADH per gram of tissue. Brain and muscle cells contain 50  $\mu$ g. One-third of all the energy produced by our body is used by our brain.

#### 33.1.1.1 NADH Increases the Mitochondrial Membrane Potential

The British Nobel laureate Peter Mitchell postulated that energy in the mitochondria is formed by a gradient of electric charge between the outer and the inner side of the mitochondrial membrane. The higher the level of this electric potential, the more energy is produced. Researchers in China demonstrated that incubating cells with NADH leads to an increase in the mitochondrial membrane potential, 4 implying greater energy output.

## 33.1.1.2 Extracellular NADH Increases Intracellular ATP Production in Heart Cells

A recent study has shown that NADH can increase the biosynthesis of ATP inside the cell. Isolated single heart cells were incubated with NADH, and an increase of ATP inside the cell was found by two independent methods.<sup>5</sup> This observation provides convincing evidence that NADH can penetrate the cell membrane and increase the cellular energy level in the form of ATP. If the cell has more energy, it can live longer and can perform its functions better.

The consequences and implications of these findings are remarkable. Heart cells get more energy by NADH, hence their strength and capacity is higher. People with heart problems can benefit from NADH. After a heart attack, some areas in the heart may be damaged and hence not functioning but still be alive. If these cells are supplied with NADH, they may get more energy to repair the damage and become functional again.

The same principle may work in the brain. After a stroke, certain areas in the brain are not nurtured by blood, as the circulation is blocked. These brain parts may be still vital but not functioning. By offering them NADH, they get more energy and may regain their functionality. A number of anecdotal cases of stroke patients treated with NADH did show improvement of their symptoms even weeks after the event.

If NADH leads to an increase in energy in isolated heart cells, it should also work in other tissues such as the kidney, the liver, the pancreas, or the lung. It was some kind of dogma that NADH does not pass the cell membrane because it is too hydrophilic and too labile to penetrate into the intact cell. The study outlined has convincingly shown by two independent methods that NADH can increase ATP formation and energy production in isolated heart cells.<sup>5</sup> In doing so, NADH must penetrate the cell membrane to get to the point of action, the mitochondria. NADH is also taken up by cells lacking mitochondria such as erythrocytes. If you incubate human red blood cells with NADH, a decline of the extracellular NADH and an increase in ATP (= energy) in these cells is observed (Hallström et al., personal communication). The consumption of NADH by blood cells correlates (indirectly) to the level of ATP.<sup>6</sup> In other words, if blood cells consume a lot of NADH, the ATP level in these cells is low.

Highly conditioned athletes are assumed to have a high energy level in their muscles and blood cells. Hence, their blood cells consume only a low amount of NADH when incubated with it. Blood cells from elderly or sick people consume considerably more NADH than athletes. However, when athletes are tested after a marathon run or after long-distance cycling, their blood cells consume NADH in an amount comparable with that of old people. These observations were made with a newly developed and patented blood test known as ENMA (extracellular NADH metabolization assay).<sup>6</sup> It has an enormously broad application range.<sup>7</sup> It can be used not only for controlling the training performance of athletes, but also in the surveillance of patients in terms of energy recovery after a heart attack, a stroke, cancer treatment, or rehabilitation.

#### 33.1.2 NADH PLAYS A KEY ROLE IN DNA AND CELL DAMAGE REPAIR

The DNA in the nucleus is well protected by histones and other macromolecules. Nevertheless, it can be damaged by exposure to various agents such as radiation, ultraviolet (UV) light, ozone, free radicals, carcinogens, and toxins such as cytostatic drugs, some of which are themselves carcinogenic. These potentially harmful agents can react with the chromosomes. If the DNA is affected and damaged by one of these agents, the genetic material will be altered. Replication of altered, defective DNA causes changed features in the newly divided cells provided that cell division can still occur. The greater the DNA damage, the more extensive are the alterations that can occur in cells and tissue. Genetic damage is the biochemical basis for a number of chronic diseases such as cancer, heumatoid arthritis, immunodeficiencies, and arteriosclerosis. Hence it is imperative that our genetic material remain unaltered in order to guarantee that any new progenitor cell developing after cell division is identical to its parent cells. If the DNA is altered by physical or chemical agents, the newly developing progenitor cells may be different from their mother cells and will not function in the originally programmed way.

In order to avoid the fatal consequences of DNA damage, mammalian cells have developed a system for repairing alterations of their genetic material. This so-called DNA repair system needs NADH to gain full functionality. <sup>12,13</sup> Therefore, the more NADH you have in your body, the better the DNA repair system functions, and the better you are protected from potentially developing diseases.

The exposure of cells to DNA-damaging reagents can trigger a wide range of cellular responses involved in the regulation of gene expression and cell-cycle progression, stimulation of DNA repair, and programmed cell death. At 15 These processes are important for maintaining normal growth, antimutation, damage repair, and functional activity of cells. However, due to the unspecificity of chemotherapeutic drugs for the cancerous target cells, many normal cells get damaged as well, causing severe, sometimes fatal adverse reactions. The question is, how can normal cells be protected from the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapeutic agents? How can we stimulate the repair system and promote normal cellular responses after chemotherapy? The mechanism involved in repairing DNA-damaged cells exposed to cytostatics has been investigated in many clinical studies. Whether the reduced form of the coenzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) can be used to protect cells from DNA damage has never been considered until recently. Previous studies in our laboratory have found

that NADH can stimulate biosynthesis of endogenous cell factors and can rescue cells from apoptotic damage by triggering production of the bcl-2 oncogene proteins.<sup>19</sup>

The effect of NADH on DNA repair was investigated on PC12 cells damaged by doxorubicin. PC12 cells were incubated in medium with and without NADH before and after exposure to the DNA-damaging agent doxorubicin. The changes of the cell proliferation genes (c-myc, c-erb-2), the apoptosis inhibition gene bcl-2 and p53 (tumor suppressor gene), cell apoptosis inhibition gene bcl-2 and p53 (tumor suppressor gene), cell apoptosis gene (c-fos), and the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) were investigated using a cytotoxicity assay and immunofluorescence flow cytometric analysis.

Doxorubicin induced DNA damage in PC12 cells by inhibiting the expression of the cell proliferation genes and by triggering apoptotic processes in the cells. This was shown by down-regulating the expression of c-erb-2, c-myc, bcl-2 and by up-regulating the expression of PCNA and c-fos of the PC12 cells.<sup>20</sup>

NADH not only increased the resistance of PC12 cells to the doxorubicin-induced DNA damage, but also partially repaired the damage. NADH promoted survival and differentiation by regulating the c-myc oncogene proteins. Furthermore, it supported the process of DNA repair by regulating the expression of p53 and bcl-2 on the PC12 cells damaged by doxorubicin. NADH also down-regulated expression of the cell apoptosis gene c-fos on the PC12 cells.

The expression of c-erb-2 oncogene proteins and PCNA on the PC12 cells did not show a significant change in the group of cells incubated with NADH in comparison with the group incubated with medium alone. In addition, no abnormal proliferation effect of NADH on PC12 cells was observed in these experiments.

As a consequence of these findings, NADH can be considered as a therapeutic adjunct for cancer patients to protect them against the general toxic effects of substances such as doxorubicin or cisplatin by stimulating the DNA-repair system and by promoting normal cellular biosynthetic responses after chemotherapy. NADH seems to exhibit a chemopreventive effect.

Drug-induced apoptosis is dependent on the balance between cell-cycle checkpoints and DNA-repair mechanisms. Doxorubicin is a DNA-damaging cytotoxic drug that accumulates in the nuclei of damaged cells. Increased accumulation of cellular doxorubicin is accompanied by apoptosis. 14,15,21 Experiments indicate that the inhibition rate of PC12 cells correlates with the concentration of doxorubicin in medium and with time of exposure of the cells to the toxic environment. The cytotoxicity of doxorubicin for PC12 cells occurs not only in the phase of acute exposure but also in the lag phase.

Apoptosis induced by doxorubicin is accompanied by the down-regulation of the expression of the oncogene proteins c-erb-2 and c-myc, the anti-apoptotic gene proteins (bcl-2), p53 tumor suppressor protein, and up-regulation of the expression of PCNA<sup>16</sup> and c-fos.

These genetic changes occur not only in the early phase of the apoptosis induced by doxorubicin, but can also happen in the lag phase, when the damaged PC12 cells are incubated with new medium after removing the old doxorubicin-containing medium. DNA damage and activation of c-fos oncogene seem to be the major pathways of inducing apoptotic damage of PC12 cells. NADH can partially rescue cell activity of PC12 cells from DNA damage induced by doxorubicin. Cell damage repair is a complex biological process in which a number of reactions are involved.

NADH is an essential component of enzymes necessary for many metabolic reactions in the cell, including energy production. It plays a crucial role in triggering biological antioxidation and in regulating the expression of membrane glycoprotein receptors.<sup>22,23</sup> Previous studies have shown that NADH can rescue cells from apoptosis caused by inhibition of the mitochondrial respiratory chain induced by chemotherapeutic agents such as rotenone, and simultaneously can increase the production of endogenous biological factors necessary for proper functions. In addition, cell-cycle progression of PC12 cells is observed.<sup>15,19</sup>

When the apoptotic rate of PC12 cell was 82.2%, the rate of cells repaired by NADH was only 3.1%. After recovery incubation for 48 h, the expression of c-erb-2 oncogene proteins and PCNA on

the PC12 cells did not show a significant increase in the group treated with NADH in comparison with the control. The change of c-erb-2 oncogene that occurs during the acute damage phase of the PC12 cells is difficult to be reversed by incubation with NADH or medium. However, the up-regulation of c-fos oncogene protein in the acute damage phase can be significantly down-regulated by incubation with NADH for 48 h. This suggests that NADH rescues PC12 from doxorubicin-induced damage not only by repairing the DNA, but also by increasing energy production within these cells.

Programmed cell death is an energy-dependent biochemically regulated process that is the result of the expression of a number of genes. The roles of several gene and gene families, such as Bcl-2/bax, p53, c-myc, c-jun, c-fos, considered to be critical for apoptosis have recently been described in different cell lines.<sup>24,25</sup> Many reports suggest that a rather complex genetic and molecular mechanism is involved in the process of apoptosis. It could also be triggered either by increased or by reduced gene expressions as well as by biochemical reactions not necessarily connected to altered gene expression.<sup>14,24-26</sup>

Observations from our studies provide evidence that complex molecular events are involved in the apoptotic process of PC12 cells induced by doxorubicin. After recovery incubation of PC12 cells with NADH for 48 h, the positive ratio and amount of c-erb-2 expressed on PC12 cells did not show an increase in comparison with the control with medium alone. The positive ratio of c-myc was not altered, but the amount of c-myc expressed on the vital PC12 cells was significantly up-regulated 47.7% and 52.9%, respectively, in comparison with the acute-damage phase and the group with medium alone. This suggests that regulating the expression of c-myc on PC12 cells may be involved in the DNA repair of PC12 cells damaged by doxorubicin. Although the exact function of c-myc remains largely unknown, its activation has been implicated in the induction of cell proliferation and differentiation. Some reports have also indicated that the c-myc oncogene protein acts as a sequence-specific factor that serves to regulate gene expression in normal cellular growth and differentiation and as a common intracellular transducer that promotes G0 to G1 transition. It may also be involved in the regulation of programmed cell death. 27.28,29,30

In the processes of cell DNA damage repair, bcl-2 and p53 are two of the most important proteins encoded by the bcl-2 gene and p53 tumor suppressor gene. Wild-type p53 can suppress cell proliferation and slow DNA synthesis and block transition from G1 to S phase of the cell cycle.<sup>30,31,32</sup> The bcl-2 gene is a proto-oncogene and the most important inhibitor of apoptosis. Expression of bcl-2 may interfere with the apoptotic process mediated by the APO-1/Fas antigen and TNF receptor. Probably the ratio of bcl-2 and p53 determines how the cell responds to DNAdamaging agents. Current research indicates that expression of bcl-2 in pheochromocytoma cells is associated with that of the c-myc oncogene protein.<sup>33–35</sup> Overexpression of the proto-oncogene bcl-2 might block p53-induced apoptosis and inhibit p53 functional activity.<sup>36</sup> In our experiment, in which we investigated the effect of NADH on the recovery of PC12 cell from DNA-damage, the ratio of expression of p53 and bcl-2 on PC12 cells was down-regulated by 91.9 and 98.8% after exposure of the cells with doxorubicin. After recovery incubation of the cells in medium containing NADH for 48 h, the ratio of vital PC12 cells was up-regulated by 3.1%, and the p53 tumor suppressor protein expressed on the vital cells was down-regulated by 36.7%. However, the amount of bcl-2 expressed on the vital PC12 cells was found to be up-regulated by 12.7% in comparison with the control group (medium alone). These findings suggest that NADH can not only promote survival and differentiation of cells by regulating the c-myc oncogene protein, but also support the process of DNA repair by regulating the expression of p53 tumor-suppressor protein and proto-oncogene protein bcl-2 on the PC12 cells damaged by doxorubicin.

Cisplatin is one of the most frequently used drugs for chemotherapy of cancer. It damages the cell membrane, the mitochondria, and the nucleus not only of cancer cells, but from all normal noncancerous cells as well. The consequences are the so-called side effects of chemotherapy such as hair loss, gastrointestinal problems (vomiting, dizziness), etc. Preincubation of cells that might be damaged by cisplatin with NADH prevents the changes induced by cisplatin.<sup>37</sup> Based on these findings, cancer patients should protect themselves by taking NADH when receiving cisplatin,

doxorubicin, or other cell-damaging cytostatic drugs. NADH is also involved in transcriptional pathways important for development, cell-cycle regulation, and transformation.

The corepressor CtBP (carboxy-terminal binding protein) binding to cellular and viral transcriptional repressors is regulated by the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotides NAD and NADH, with NADH being two to three orders of magnitude more effective.<sup>38</sup> The best-characterized target promoter for CtBP in mammalian cells is probably the E-cadherin gene.<sup>39,40</sup> Loss of E-cadherin expression in tumors correlates with metastasis, invasion, and poor clinical prognosis.<sup>41,42</sup> It has been shown that CtBP-mediated repression of the E-cadherin promoter is enhanced by hypoxia.<sup>38</sup> NADH may alleviate the hypoxic state by stimulating oxygen uptake into the cell. It has been shown that the oxygen uptake in the muscles of highly conditioned athletes increases after taking the stabilized, orally absorbable form of NADH.<sup>42</sup> In addition, NADH seems to be a sensor of blood flow needed in brain, muscle, and other tissues.<sup>43</sup> Increasing blood flow removes lactate and augments delivery of nutrients and oxygen for energy metabolism.

#### 33.1.3 NADH STIMULATES CELLULAR IMMUNE FUNCTIONS

The cellular immune response in humans is based on the activities of the T lymphocytes, the B lymphocytes, and the macrophages. Macrophages have the capability for direct elimination of allogenic entities such as bacteria, viruses, and other foreign tissues. The first step in the elimination of bacteria is the perturbation of the plasma membrane of macrophages. As a consequence, the metabolic activity including oxygen consumption is markedly increased. Most of oxygen is converted to superoxide and hydrogen peroxide.<sup>44</sup> This phenomenon, known as "metabolic burst," appears to be the first and most critical step leading to the destruction of the invading foreign organism. During this metabolic burst and the cytotoxic activity induced in the macrophages, high amounts of NADH are needed and used. Hence, the immune-defense mechanism of white blood cells is fueled by NADH. Furthermore, it has been shown that NADH stimulates the biosynthesis of interleukin-6 (IL-6). Peripheral human blood leucocytes, when incubated with NADH, significantly stimulate the release of IL-6 in a dosage dependent manner.<sup>45</sup>

Besides a number of other functions, IL-6 has been reported to protect neurons from degeneration, although the mechanism has not yet been elucidated. If IL-6 protects neurons, it may protect other cells as well. 46,47

#### 33.1.4 NADH Is the Most Powerful Antioxidant

An antioxidant is a substance that acts against oxidation. The opposite of oxidation is reduction. Compounds with a high reduction potential exhibit a strong antioxidative power. NADH, the reduced form of coenzyme 1, has the highest reducing power as a single biological molecule. Only molecular hydrogen has a higher reduction potential, but this does not exist in living cells. Biological antioxidants are present in all living cells to protect the cell and its membrane from destruction by free radicals.<sup>48</sup> Free radicals are molecules with an unpaired electron. Hence they are extremely reactive. They interact with many compounds in human cells, in particular with the lipid-containing structures such as the cell membrane. In doing this, they violate the integrity of the cell wall, causing leakage and release of essential cellular components, usually resulting in cell death.<sup>49</sup> Free radicals have been shown to be involved in the development of cancer,<sup>50</sup> coronary heart disease, atherosclerosis, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders, and autoimmune diseases.<sup>51,52</sup>

Free radicals are formed in human cells by agents knocking out electrons from a molecule. These agents can be x-rays or other forms of high-energy radiation, such as that used for radiotherapy of cancer. Small amounts of free radicals are also produced in normal cells by metabolic reactions. However, mammalian cells possess a defense system — called the "antioxidative protection shield" — to protect them from being irreversibly damaged.<sup>53</sup> The first and most important antioxidant component in this system is NADH, which has the highest reduction potential of any

compound in the cells.<sup>54</sup> The thiobarbituric acid reactive species (TBARS) determination provides a measure of both free-radical formation and lipid peroxidation. In a study using spontaneous hypertensive rats (SHR), it was been found that the renal TBARS were significantly lower (1.9 nmol MDA/100 mg tissue) in the rats fed with 5 mg NADH orally as compared with the control animals (3.5 nmol MDA/100 mg tissue). MDA (malondialdehyde) is formed from the breakdown of polyunsaturated fatty acids. NADH also reduced total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol significantly as well as the blood pressure.<sup>55</sup> One of the conclusions the authors deduced from these findings is that NADH may be a useful agent for preventing and treating cardiovascular risk factors.

The antioxidative effect of NADH was also investigated in humans. When LDL cholesterol is oxidized *in vitro* induced by peroxyl radicals, NADH reveals an antioxidant effect identical to ascorbic acid during the first 90 min. <sup>56</sup> However, after 90 min, the effect of ascorbic acid ceases, whereas NADH continues to act antioxidatively. Hence, the antioxidative potency of NADH appears to last much longer than that of ascorbic acid. In a double-blind placebo-controlled study, 37 human subjects were given ENADA®–NADH (four tablets of 5-mg NADH) or placebo tablets for 4 weeks. NADH reduced malondialdehyde levels as well as the (oxidative stress-induced) carbonyl modification of proteins, particularly in smokers. A steady decrease of the initially elevated protein carbonyl modification levels of smokers was observed, ultimately approaching the levels of non-smokers within the study period of 4 weeks. This observation implies that ENADA–NADH may have a preventive or even curative effect on tissues damaged by cigarette smoking.

# 33.2 ENADA: THE STABILIZED ORALLY ABSORBABLE FORM OF NADH

NADH can be regarded as a biological form of hydrogen. Hence NADH is a very reactive compound, is very unstable, and becomes easily degraded by air, water, humidity, acids, and oxidizing agents such as sugars. Even in solid state, NADH reacts with lactose, the most common filler of tablets. In 1987, NADH was used intravenously (i.v.) for treatment of patients with Parkinson's disease (PD). The beneficial effects in improving the disability of the PD patients were remarkable.<sup>57</sup> The challenge was to transpose the intravenous form of NADH into an oral (tablet) form. After yearlong research, a galenic formulation was developed in which NADH was stable for at least 2 years, a prerequisite for registration as an ethical drug. For this special formulation of a stabilized orally absorbable form, one of the authors (G.B.) received worldwide patents.<sup>58,59</sup> The brand name for the patented, stabilized, orally absorbable form of NADH is ENADA. Numerous controlled clinical studies have been performed with ENADA since its development 1993.

#### 33.2.1 BIOAVAILABILITY OF ENADA-NADH

When taken orally, the stabilized form of NADH is absorbed in the small intestine. Studies have shown that NADH passes the intestinal mucosa undegraded by passive diffusion.<sup>60</sup> In a further study, it was demonstrated that ENADA–NADH passes the blood–brain barrier. When rats were fed with two tablets ENADA–NADH (5 mg) an increase of the NADH level in the brain cortex was observed after 20 min of intake as measured by laser-induced fluorescence.<sup>61</sup>

Using a pulsed N-2 laser combined with a fiber-optic probe and photomultipliers, the NADH fluorescence was measured in the brain cortex of rats. After intraperitoneal application of NADH (50 mg/kg), an increase in the intensity of the cortical NADH fluorescence of about 18% was observed for approximately 30 min compared with the fluorescence intensity in the control group. Neither NAD+ (the oxidized form of NADH) nor nicotinamide (both at concentrations of 50 mg/kg) showed any effect on the NADH fluorescence in the cortex for the entire measurement period of 120 min.

Following oral application of NADH (two tablets of ENADA [5 mg NADH] = 51 mg/kg) the cortical fluorescence intensity was increased by about 20% compared with the control group.<sup>61</sup> The results of this study provide convincing evidence that NADH given orally increases the amount of

NADH in the brain. To achieve this, ENADA, the stabilized and orally absorbable form of NADH, had to have passed the blood-brain barrier.

#### 33.2.2 ENADA-NADH: A Protector against Chemotoxicity and Radiation

Cytostatic drugs such as cisplatin and doxorubicin are used in chemotherapy of cancer. These drugs trigger a wide range of cellular responses involved in the regulation of gene expression and cell-cycle progression and programmed cell death. As these cytostatic drugs are not specific to either cancerous or normal cells, the latter may be damaged during chemotherapy, causing severe, sometimes fatal, adverse reactions.

Studies from the authors have shown that NADH can stimulate the biosynthesis of endogenous cell factors and can rescue cells from apoptotic damage by triggering production of the bcl-2 oncogene proteins. <sup>62</sup> In the process of cell damage repair, bcl-2 and p53 are two of the most important proteins encoded by the bcl-2 gene and p53 tumor-suppressor gene. Wild-type p53 can suppress cell proliferation and can slow DNA synthesis and thus block transition from G1 to S phase of the cell cycle. <sup>63</sup> The bcl-2 gene is a proto-oncogene and the most important inhibitor of apoptosis. Current research indicates that expression of bcl-2 is associated with that of the c-myc oncogene protein. <sup>64</sup> In studies performed by the authors, it was found that doxorubicin down-regulated the expression of p53 and bcl-2 in PC12 cells by 91.9 and 98.8%, respectively. Incubation of the damaged cells by NADH promoted survival and differentiation by regulating the c-myc oncogene protein. NADH also supported the process of DNA repair by regulating the expression of the p53 tumor suppressor protein and the proto-oncogene protein bcl-2. <sup>62</sup> Similar results were obtained when cisplatin was used as cell-damaging agent. <sup>37</sup>

In the same publication, the effect of NADH on cells damaged by radiation was reported. When PC12 cells were exposed to radiation in a dose given routinely as radiotherapy of cancer, 90% of vital cells were damaged. Incubation of the damaged cells with NADH induced a repair process. More than half of the damaged cells could be repaired and gained full functionality (Zhang, personal communication).

A number of cytostatic drugs, including cisplatin, are carcinogenic. NADH is able to protect cells from the carcinogenic effects of these chemotherapeutic agents. Hence ENADA, the stabilized oral form of NADH, may present a safe, nontoxic, biological supplement for prevention of cancer.

#### 33.2.3 THE SAFETY OF ENADA-NADH

The stabilized, orally absorbable form of NADH (ENADA) is a nutritional supplement available in the U.S. since 1995 and in the E.U. since 1997. Based on the patented formulation of this supplement, a number of clinical trials have been launched to prove scientifically that ENADA is effective. In order to get these studies started, an investigational new drug (IND) application was filed with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). For FDA approval, it must be documented that ENADA (the stabilized oral form of NADH) is safe. For this reason, the maximum tolerated intravenous dose (MTD) of βNADH (reduced form of beta-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) in beagle dogs was elucidated. The maximum tolerated dose (MTD) of \( \beta NADH \) in dogs was found to be 500 mg NADH per kg of body weight per day. In other words, a dog weighing 10 kg will tolerate 5 g of NADH.65 The oral form of NADH (ENADA) was also tested in beagle dogs, who were fed 150 mg/kg/day for 14 days. The drug was delivered in the form of 30 regular (5 mg) ENADA tablets filled in two gelatin capsules (15 ENADA tablets per capsule). This high dose was selected because it was considered to be the maximum amount that could be practically administered repeatedly over 14 days. All dogs survived the treatment, and no adverse reactions or side effects were observed. The dogs treated with ENADA showed no changes in comparison with the control animals regarding laboratory safety parameters and organ and tissue pathology. A dose of 150 mg/kg body weight means 1500 mg for a 10 kg beagle dog, and 1500 mg of ENADA corresponds to 300 5-mg ENADA tablets per day. This is a dose that beagle dogs tolerate without any side effect.65

In addition to the MTD findings, a study for potential chronic toxicity of ENADA was performed in rats, which were given one tablet of ENADA (5 mg NADH) per day for 26 weeks. No changes in laboratory parameters or in tissue and organ pathology were observed.<sup>66</sup> A dose of 5 mg for a rat weighing about 330 grams corresponds to 15 mg per kg body weight, or 1050 mg of NADH for a 70-kg human subject. A 1050-mg dose of NADH corresponds to 210 tablets of ENADA (5 mg NADH), which are tolerated without side effects when given for 26 weeks (6.5 months). Based on these safety data ENADA–NADH can be generally regarded as safe, and the FDA gave permission for two clinical trials in the U.S. about 2 weeks after application.

## 33.2.4 ENADA–NADH AS THERAPEUTIC CONCEPT FOR CERTAIN HUMAN CANCERS

NADH has been shown to inhibit the growth of murine fibrosarcoma and human laryngeal carcinoma cells *in vitro*.<sup>67</sup> Based on these findings and the various biological functions, the stabilized oral form of ENADA has been used as treatment for certain types of cancer.

#### 33.3 CASE STUDIES

The following subsections describe a number of anecdotal cases in which ENADA-NADH was used as an anticancer therapy.

#### 33.3.1 Case 1

The first case involved a 48-year-old male suffering from a small-cell bronchial carcinoma. The diagnosis was made by MRT (magnetic resonance tomography) and verified by histopathological examination of biopsy specimen. The size of the tumor was 6 to 8 cm in diameter in September 2001 when the patient visited one of the authors (G.B.). The report of the University of Amsterdam indicated that the tumor was inoperable due to its localization very close to the mediastinum. The patient had received radiotherapy followed by chemotherapy before he came for a visit to one of the authors (G.B.). The patient was recommended to take four 5-mg tablets of ENADA per day. He was already taking selenium, vitamin C, and vitamin E. In January 2002, the size of the tumor was, as verified by MRT, to be the size of a cherry. The therapy with NADH was continued. In July 2002, an MRT report from the University of Amsterdam stated that no tumor was detectable.

#### 33.3.2 CASE 2

A female, aged 63, underwent an operation for invasive duct carcinoma in August 1989. One year later, multiple liver and bone metastases were detected. Following four therapy cycles, according to the CMF diagram, further increase of liver and bone metastases were observed. Pain was reducible only with the strongest analgesics. Beginning in January 1991, the patient was treated with NADH (12.5 mg) administered intravenously three times a week. After four weeks of parenteral therapy, the patient was switched to an oral regimen, taking 5 mg of NADH every day. By April 1991 radiological detection showed metastasis regression. Some foci were greatly reduced in size, and some completely disappeared. The oral NADH therapy was continued. A check later in 1991 using CT scanning revealed a further marked regression of the liver metastases and the bone metastases were virtually undetectable. The patient was free from pain and no longer required analgesics. The serum concentration of CA15.3 dropped from 65.0 (January 1991) to 24 (August 1994).

#### 33.3.3 CASE 3

A male, aged 59, had a colon carcinoma in 1987. In 1990, sonographic and radiological tests detected multiple liver metastases of cherry to plum size. Two chemotherapy cycles, Myleran or

Endoxan, were unsuccessful, and the liver foci increased in size. Therapy with NADH was started in December 1990, initially 12.5 mg intravenously three times a week. After four weeks, the therapy was changed to NADH orally, 5 mg, every day. In March 1991, sonographic detection showed a reduction in the size of the liver foci. In June 1991, a check by CT scanning and sonography revealed an almost complete disappearance of the metastases in the liver. The patient subjectively reported to feel extremely well. The tumor marker CEA was initially 110 in December 1990 and declined to 22 by November 1994.

#### 33.3.4 CASE 4

This case involved a female, aged 52. Three years after undergoing a quadrantectomy due to invasive scirrhous carcinoma of the breast, vertebral metastases were detected in January 1990. In April 1990, liver metastases were discovered by ultrasonics examinations. Therapy with Novaldex led to no regression of the metastases. There was also no response to a therapy cycle, according to the CMF diagram. Intravenous administration of NADH (12.5 mg every other week) was started in November 1990. After four weeks, the therapy was changed to NADH orally, 5 mg every day. Two months after the start of NADH therapy, there was a clear regression of liver metastases as well as disappearance/reduction of vertebral metastases. Liver metastases were greatly reduced or foci were no longer detectable. Tumor markers CEA and CA15.3 were 45 and 92, respectively, in April 1990. The last control in October 1994 showed CEA to be 14 and CA15.3 to 18.5.

#### 33.3.5 CASE 5

This case involved a male, aged 66. Parvicellular bronchial carcinoma was diagnosed in February 1990, and multiple foci in both pulmonary lobes were formed. Cytostatic therapy with methotrexate and Endoxan led to no regression. In October 1990, NADH was administered parenterally (10 mg intravenously) every other day. A radiographic check in 1991 revealed the remission of the neoplastic foci as regards to both number and size. NADH therapy was continued with 10 mg orally every day. A check in May 1991 by CT scanning confirmed a further reduction of tumor foci in both pulmonary lobes.

#### 33.3.6 CASE 6

This case involved a male, aged 72. In November 1990, a tumor mass in the liver (8 to 10 cm in diameter) was diagnosed. In summer 1993, multiple lung metastases of various sizes were found in a CT scan. The patient denied surgical intervention as well as chemo- or radiotherapy. Beginning in the spring of 1994, he took one tablet of NADH every day. Control examination by x-ray and computer tomography showed no increase of the lung metastases and a reduction of the liver mass, with indications of formation of necroses in the center of the tumor. The patient subjectively reported to feel well and had no pain. The lung-cancer-associated tumor marker CYFRA 21-1 was 35 before NADH therapy (April 94) and 21 in December 1994. The carcinoembryonic antigen CEA levels were measured to be 67 in April 94 and 28 in December 94.

#### 33.3.7 CASE 7

This case involved a female, aged 55. In February 1992, lymph-node metastases of a poorly differentiated mammary carcinoma were detected in the left neck region. The CA15.3 value was 37.0, the CEA level was 13.5, and the TPS was 145 in March 1992. The primary tumor could not be localized. The patient denied chemo- and radiotherapy. She was given 5 mg NADH every day. A year later, the previous palpable lymph-node metastases had disappeared. The tumor marker tests CA15.3, CEA, and TPS were 15.0, 8.0, and 95, respectively, in July 1994. Computer tomography and bone scan did not show any metastases (June 94).

#### 33.4 MECHANISM OF ACTION OF NADH

For the time being, we can only speculate on the mechanism of action of NADH in stabilizing or reducing certain cancers. One possibility could be the function of NADH as a DNA-repairing agent. Cancer cells have a DNA that is altered from that of the original cells from which the carcinoma cells developed. If NADH is given to cancer patients, the content of NADH in the cancerous cell increases. The more NADH a cell has available the better the DNA repair system works, and the alteration of the genes may be reverted to normal.

Another possibility may be derived from the energy-increasing function of NADH. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, the intracellular level of ATP can be increased by incubating the cells with NADH. With more energy, cancerous cells increase their capacity of the biosynthesis of macromolecules, in particular proteins, glycoproteins, and glycolipids. These substances play a major role on the cell surface in regulating proliferation and differentiation. With more NADH and ATP in the cancerous cells, proliferation may be halted, and differentiation processes may be induced. These assumptions remain to be elucidated in further studies.

#### **ACKNOWLEGDMENT**

I want to thank Mrs. Strmljan Elfriede, M.A., for her assistance in preparing this manuscript.

#### **REFERENCES**

- 1. Alberts, B., Bray D., Lewis J., Raff, H., Roberts, K., and Watson, J.D., Energy conversion: mitochondria and chloroplasts, *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 3rd ed., Garland Publishing, 1994, pp. 653–720.
- Busheri, N., Jarrell, S.T., Lieberman, Sh., Mirdamadi-Zonozi, N., Birkmayer, G., and Preuss, H.G., Oral reduced B-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) affects blood pressure, lipid peroxidation, and lipid profile in hypertensive rats (SHR), *Geriatric Nephrol. Urol.*, 8, 95, 1998.
- 3. Klingenberg, M., Pyridinnucleotide und biologische Oxidation, Zur Bedeutung der freien Nukleotide, II, *Moosbacher Kolloquium*, Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 1960, p. 82.
- 4. Xu, M., Zhang, J.-R., and Hui S., The cytoprotection of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) in the mitochondria regulation mechanism, *J. Tumor Marker Oncol.*, 17 (4), 167, 2002.
- 5. Pelzmann, B., Schaffer, P., Lang, P., Hallström, S., Nadlinger, K., Birkmayer, J., Reibnegger, G., Koidl, B., NADH-supplementation decreases pinacidil-primed  $I_{K(ATP)}$  in ventricular cardiomyocytes via increase of intracellular ATP content, submitted for publication.
- Nadlinger, K., Westerthaler, W., Storga-Tomic, D., and Birkmayer, J.G.D., Extracellular metabolisation of NADH by blood cells correlates with intracellular ATP levels, *Biochimica Biophysica Acta*, 1573, 177, 2002.
- Enzyme-Based Assay for Determining Effects of Exogenous and Endogenous Factors on Cellular Energy production, U.S. Patent 6,248,552 B1, 2001.
- Harris, C.C., Weston, A., Willey, J.C., Trivers, G.E., and Mann, D.L., Biochemical and molecular epidemiology of human cancer: indicators of carcinogen exposure, DNA damage, and genetic predisposition, *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 75, 109, 1987.
- 9. Demopoulos, H.B. et al., The possible role of free radical reactions in carcinogenesis, *J. Environ. Path. Tox.*, 3, 273, 1980.
- Bankson, D.D., Kestin, M., and Rifai, N., Role of free radicals in cancer and atherosclerosis, Clin. Lab. Med., 13, 463, 1993.
- Halliwell, B., The role of oxygen radicals in human disease, with particular reference to the vascular system, *Haemostasis*, 23 (Suppl.), 118, 1993.
- 12. Ueda, K. and Hayaishi, O., ADP-ribosylation, Ann. Rev. Biochem., 54, 73, 1985.
- Satoh, M.S., Poirier, G.G., and Lindahl, T., NAD+ dependent repair of damaged DNA by human cell extracts, *Biol. Chem.*, 268 (8), 5480, 1993.

- 14. Wang, J.Y., Cellular responses to DNA damage, Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol., 10 (2), 240, 1998.
- 15. Stecca, C. and Gerber, G.B, Adaptive response to DNA-damaging agents: a review of potential mechanisms, *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 55 (7), 941, 1998.
- 16. Savio, M., Stivala, L.A., Bianchi, L., Tannini, V., and Prosperi, E., Involvement of the proliferation cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) in DNA repair induced by alkylating agents and oxidative damage in human fibroblasts, *Carcinogenesis*, 19, 591, 1998.
- 17. Anderson, C.W., Protein kinases and the response to DNA damage, Semin. Cell. Biol., 5 (6), 427, 1994.
- 18. Fink, D., Aebi, S., and Howell, S.B., The role of DNA mismatch repair in drug resistance, *Clin. Cancer. Res.*, 4 (1), 1, 1998.
- 19. Birkmayer, G.J.D. and Birkmayer, W., Stimulation of endogenous L-dopa biosynthesis a new principle for the therapy of Parkinson's disease: the clinical effect of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADPH), *Acta Neurol. Scan.*, 126, 183, 1989.
- Zhang, J.R., Vrecko, K., Nadlinger, K., Storga Tomic, D., Birkmayer, G.D., and Reibnegger, G., The reduced coenzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) repairs DNA damage of PC12 cells induced by doxorubicin, *J. Tumor Marker Oncol.*, 13 (4), 5, 1998.
- Ramachandran, C., You, W., and Krishan, A., Bcl-2 and mdr-1 gene expression during doxorubicininduced apoptosis in murine leukemic p388 and p388/R84 cells, *Anticancer Res.*, 17 (5A), 3369, 1997.
- 22. Marques, F. and Bicho, M.P., Activation of a NADH dehydrogenase in the human erythrocyte by betaadrenergic agonists: possible involvement of a G protein in enzyme activation, *Biol. Signals*, 6 (2), 52, 1997
- 23. Macaya, A., Apoptosis in the nervous system, Rev. Neurol., 24 (135), 1356, 1996.
- 24. Huang, D.C., O'Reilly, L.A., Strasser, A., and Cory, S., The anti-apoptosis function of Bcl-2 can be genetically separated from its inhibitory effect on cell cycle entry, *EMBO J.*, 16 (15), 4628, 1997.
- Lovschall, H., Kassem, M., and Mosekilde, L., Apoptosis: molecular aspects, Nord. Med., 112 (8), 271, 1997.
- 26. Hopewell, R., Li, L., MacGregor, D., Nerlov, C., and Ziff, E.B., Regulation of cell proliferation and differentiation by myc, *J. Cell. Sci. Suppl.*, 19, 85, 1995.
- 27. Luscher, B. and Eisenman, R.N., New light on myc and myb, Part 1: myc, genes and development, 4, 2025, 1990.
- 28. Kangas, A., Nicholson, D.W., and Hittla, E., Involvement of CPP32/Caspase-3 in c-myc-induced apoptosis, *Oncogene*, 16 (3), 387, 1998.
- 29. Hughes, P.E., Alexi, T., and Schreiber, S.S., A role for tumour suppressor gene p53 in regulating neuronal apoptosis, *Neuroreport*, 8 (15), 5, 1997.
- 30. Blagosklonny, M.V. and Ei-Deiry, W.S., Acute overexpression of wt p53 facilitates anticancer druginduced death of cancer and normal cell, *Int. J. Cancer*, 75 (6), 933, 1998.
- 31. Badwey, C.W. and Gerard, R.W., Production of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide by an NADH oxidase in guinea pig polymorphonuclear leukocytes, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 254, 11530, 1979.
- 32. Da-Gong, W., Colin, F.J., John, K.M., Kerry, V.P., Brew, A., Colin, F.J.R., and Keith, D.B., Expression of the apoptosis-suppressing gene bcl-2 in pheochromocytoma is associated with the expression of c-myc, *J. Clinical Endocrinol. Metab.*, 82 (6), 1949, 1997.
- 33. Katoh, S., Mitsui, Y., Kitani, K., and Suzuki, T., The rescuing effect of nerve growth factor is the result of up-regulation of bcl-2 in hyperoxia-induced apoptosis of a subclone of pheochromocytoma cells PC12h, *Neurosci. Lett.*, 232 (2), 71, 1997.
- 34. Birchall, M.A., Schock, E., Harmon, B.V., and Gobe, G., Apoptosis, mitosis, PCNA and bcl-2 in normal, leukoplakic and malignant epithelia of the human oral cavity: prospective, *in vivo* study, *Oral Oncol.*, 33 (6), 419, 1997.
- 35. Heidenreich, A., Schenkman, N.S., Sesterhenn, I.A., Mostofi, K.F., Moul, J.W., Srivastava, S., and Engelmann, U.H., Immunohistochemical and mutational analysis of the p53 tumor suppressor gene and the bcl-2 oncogene in primary testicular germ cell tumours, *APMIS*, 106 (1), 90, 1998.
- 36. Meng, X., Zhang, J.-R., and Li, P., The molecular mechanisms of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide in inhibiting human liver cells from apoptosis induced by cisplatin, *J. Tumor Marker Oncol.*, 15 (2), 139, 2000.
- 37. Zhang, Q., Piston, D.W., and Goodman, R.H., Regulation of corepressor function by nuclear NADH, *Science*, 295, 1895, 2002.

- 38. Grooteclaes, M.L. and Frisch, S.M., Oncogene, 19, 3823, 2000.
- 39. Comijn, J. et al., Mol. Cell., 7, 1267, 2001.
- 40. Meiners, S., Brinkmann, V., Naundorf, H., and Birchmeier, W., Oncogene, 16, 9, 1998.
- 41. Perl, A.K., Wilgenbus, P., Dahl, U., Semb, H., and Christofori, G., Nature, 392, 190, 1998.
- 42. Ido, Y., Chang, K., Woolsey, T.A., and Williamson, J.R., NADH: sensor of blood flow need in brain, muscle and other tissues, *FASEB J.*, 15, 1419, 2001.
- 43. Badwey, C.W. and Gerard, R.W., Production of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide by an NADH oxidase in guinea pig polymorphonuclear leukocytes, *J. Biol. Chem.*, 254, 11530, 1979.
- 44. Nadlinger, K., Birkmayer, J., Gebauer, F., and Kunze, R., Influence of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide on the production of interleukin-6 by peripheral human blood leukocytes, *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 9, 203, 2001.
- 45. Reyes, T.M., Fabry, Z., and Coe, C.L., Brain endothelial cell production of a neuroprotective cytokine, interleukin-6, in response to noxious stimuli, *Brain Res.*, 851, 215, 1999.
- 46. Loddick, S.A., Turnbull, A.V., and Rothwell, N.J., Cerebral interleukin-6 is neuroprotective during permanent focal cerebral ischemia in the rat, *J. Cerb. Blood Flow Metab.*, 18, 176, 1998.
- Pryor, W.A., Free radical reactions and their importance in biochemical systems, Fed. Proc., 32, 1862, 1973.
- 48. Tappel, A.L., Lipid peroxidation damage to cell components, Fed. Proc., 32, 1870, 1973.
- 49. Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M.C., Oxygen toxicity, oxygen radicals, transition metals and disease, *Biochem. J.*, 219, 1, 1984.
- 50. Cranton, E.M. and Frackelton, J.P., Free radical pathology in age-associated diseases: treatment with EDTA chelation, nutrition and antioxidants, *J. Hol. Med.*, 6, 6,1984.
- 51. Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M.C., Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: an overview, *Methods Enzymol.*, 186, 1, 1990.
- 52. Demopoulos, H.B., Pietronigro, D.D., and Seligman, M.L., The development of secondary pathology with free radical reactions as a threshold mechanism, *J. Am. Coll. Tox.*, 2, 173, 1983.
- 53. Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M.C., Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1985.
- 54. Busheri, N., Taylor, J., Lieberman, S., Mirdamadi-Zonosi, N., Birkmayer, G., and Preuss, H.G., Oral NADH affects blood pressure, lipid peroxidation and lipid profile in spontaneously hypertensive rats, *J. Am. Coll. Nutr.*, 1997.
- 55. Reibnegger, G., Greilberger, J., Juergens, G., and Oettl, K., The antioxidative capacity of ENADA–NADH in humans, *ICMAN Proceedings* (2nd Int. Conf. on Mechanisms and Actions of Nutraceuticals), 37, 2002.
- Birkmayer, G.J.D. and Birkmayer, W., Stimulation of the endogenous L-dopa biosynthesis a new principle for the therapy of Parkinson's disease: the clinical effect of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotidephosphate (NADPH), *Acta Neurol. Scan.*, 126, 183, 1989.
- 57. Birkmayer, J.G.D., Stable, ingestable and absorbable NADH and NADPH therapeutic compositions, U.S. Patent 5,332,727, 1994.
- 58. U.S. Patent EP 96 100 612 9.
- 59. U.S. Patent 5,654,288, 1997.
- 60. Mattern, C., Zur Entwicklung von stabilen Arzneiformen des Coenzyms NADH für die perorale und parenterale Applikation, Ph.D. thesis, Humboldt, Berlin, 1996.
- Rex, A., Hentschke, M.-P., and Fink, H., Bioavailability of reduced nicotinamide-adenin-dinucleotide (NADH) in the central nervous system of the anaesthetized rat measured by laser-induced fluorescence spectroscopy, *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 90, 2002.
- 62. Zhang, J.R., Vrecko, K., Nadlinger, K., Storga Tomic, D., Birkmayer, G.D., and Reibnegger, G., The reduced coenzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) repairs DNA damage of PC12 cells induced by doxorubicin, *J. Tumor Marker Oncol.*, 13 (4), 5, 1998.
- 63. Blagosklonny, M.V. and Ei-Deiry, W.S., Acute overexpression of wt p53 facilitates anticancer druginduced death of cancer and normal cell, *Int. J. Cancer*, 75 (6), 933, 1998.
- 64. Egle, A., Villunger, A., Marschitz, I., Kos, M., Hittmair, A., Lukas, P., Grunewald, K., and Greil, R., Expression of Apo-1/fas CD95, Bcl-2, Bax and bcl-x in myeloma cell lines: relationship between responsiveness to anti-Fas mab and p53 functional status, *Br. J. Haematol.*, 97 (2), 418, 1997.

- 65. Birkmayer, J.G.D., Nadlinger, K.F.R., and Hallström, S., On the safety of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH): the maximum tolerated dose (MTD) in dogs is 500 mg per kg, *J. Environmental Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol.*, 2003, in print.
- 66. Birkmayer, J.G.D. and Nadlinger, K., Safety of stabilized, orally absorbable, reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH): a 26-week oral tablet administration of ENADA<sup>(r)</sup>/NADH for chronic toxicity study in rats, *Drugs Exptl. Clin. Res.*, 28 (5), 185, 2002.
- 67. Slade, N., Storga-Tomic, D. Birkmayer, G.D., Pavelic, K., and Pavelic, J., Effect of extracellular NADH on human tumor cell proliferation, *Anticancer Res.*, 19, 5355, 1999.